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1. Abstract.

Monitoring took place of groundwerks asseciated with a develapment in the Bord na
Mdna bog at Srahmere and Attavally, County Mayo, The development concerned ihe
deposition af 400,000 cubic metres of peat, excavated J@ﬁm the Enterprise Energy Ireland
sife in Bellanaboy, Co, Maye and IHWM{\\H;\! ﬁmmmrmﬂ af an access roadway,
administrative and reception areas, as dus surface water settlement ponds and
associated drainage works. Nothing @Qog‘t'fmm!ngfmi interest was found during the
course of monitoring, which took p@'@'ﬂm 14 December 2004 to 12 March 2005.

& \\\\é\
2. Imtroduction. 6\0"

The site is situated é'}géf(ﬁl-away industrial peatland in the neighbouring townlands of
Srahmore and Attavally, situated just northwest of Bangor Erris, Co. Maye (Fig. 1).
Planning permission had been granted to Bord na Ména (BnM) by Mayo County Council
for a development involving the deposition of 400,000 cubic metres of peat excavated
from the Enterprise Energy Ireland site in Bellanaboy, Co. Mayo. This peat was to be
transported to a 5,112 square metre concrete reception arca and then spread over 63
hectares of worked-out bog. The development included the construction of an
administration area with parking for lorries and an aceess road from the R313, as well as
five surface water settlement ponds and associated drains. Haul roads constructed from
the reception area to the final deposition points were constructed directly on top of the
existing high fields and so did not require monitoring. All peat removal was earried out
using a mechanical digger fitted with a grading bucket.

Repart o Monttoring aif Srahmore/dtiavally, Banger Ervis, Co. Meaye, 2
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3. Historical and archaeological background,

Srahmore and Attavally townlands are in Kiltane Parish (formerly part of Kilcommon
Parish) in the Barony of Erris, Co. Mayo. The townlands, separated by a small tributary of
the Munkin River, which forms their westemm boundary, are situated close to the town of
Bangor Erris on a coastal plain ringed on three sides by hills dominated by blanket bog.
The Owenniny River is just to the south and Carmmowmore Lake immediately to the north.
The name Srahmore is derived from the Irish "Shraigh Mdr', meaning ‘The Great Bog'
and Attavally from *Aft an Bhaile’, meaning ‘The Site of the Town".

Early written records suggest that the Erris region was divided between two tribes, the
Gamanradaii and the Damnomii (Mayo on the Move). The Damnomii are thought to have
established a fort, Dun Domhnaill, at Glencastle, 6.5km west of Srahmore/Attavally,
which was also the seat of the successive ruling clans (Donovan 1838, XVII). A legend

set in this period relates the story of Fergus, who éaﬁed the Emis from the north and
kidnapped Muinchin, the wife of the local chlghfg;ﬁnnell Fergus later drowned Muinchin
in a river, which was then named in her h@g& and is known today as the Munkin River
(Donovan 1838, XVII). In the lalgq"i%{' to 13" centuries, Brris was ruled by the
O"Caithniadh clan, whose ]}DSIIIW later challenged by the O'Dowds. The Annals of
the Four Masters record {h%l\\\?n 1180 Hugh O°Caithniadh, Lord of Emis, was
treacherously slain at I{ﬂng&lmnn (MI180.11), that Caithniadh O'Caithniadh, Lord of
Erris died in 1206 {M&) 2, that in 1242 Bran, son of Donough O'Dowda, Lord of
Tirelagh, Tirawley and Erris, was killed as he journeyed on a pilgrimage to Boyle Abbey
{M1242.6) and that Fergal O'Caithniadh, Lord of Erris, died in Hy-Mac-Caechain in 1274
(M1274.7). The O' Dowd clan established control over the region in the 14™ century, to
be succeeded in turn by the Barrett family, whose holdings in Emis increased further
when they were granted lands by King James | {(Mayo on the Move).

The Cromwellian Settlement, which commenced in 1641, had a major impact on the
Erris region, As Cromwell's supporters were réewarded with grants of land in Ireland,
displaced landholders who were considered loyal were given alternative land in Mayo,
Roscommeon, Galway and Clare (O"Hara & OMurdile). The original landowners in these
areas were in tum forced to relocate west to marginal lands such as those in Erris. With
the restoration of the monarchy Charles II repaid his debts to a London goldsmith, Robert

Viner, by giving him lands in Kilmore-Erris. These were quickly sold on to Sir James

Repori on Monitering at Srafunoreidiiavally, Bangor Evels, Co. Mayo. )
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Shaen, the Surveyor General of Ireland, whose son Arthur inherited the lands in 1695 and
began a process of Anglicisation, leasing the majority of the land to English newcomers.
Upon Arthur's death in 1725, his land passed to his two daughters and shortly afterwards,
by marriage, to John Bingham and Henry Boyle Carer (Mayo on the Move). John
Bingham's son, Dennis, came to live in Bangor (then known as Daire Choinaadaigh,
“The Oakwood of the Kennedy's) around 1796 and founded the present town, which he
named after the Irish Beann Chor, “The Ridge of the Mountain Peaks® (Noone 1991, 269-
70). The Bingham and Carter families were to dominate land ownership in the Erris
region right up into the twentieth century, their landholdings being gradually acquired by
local tenants aided by grants from a series of landholding acts (O'Hara & OMurdile).

The derivation of name Attavally reflects the fact that there was once a thriving village
here on a ridge to the north of the bog, the census of 1851 recording thirteen dwellings, a
national school and a population of ninety-eight pegp‘ﬁa (Moone 1991, 266). Atavally
declined as the focus of setflement shifted e(ap.%ﬂ%s to Bangor Erris, which developed
rapidly in the early 19" century. In Sra "t?he census of 1841 records a population of
sixty, which fell to thirty-two in lﬂilﬁd&venty-auwn in 1911, In 1855 it was recorded
that there were five dwellings in t@é‘@hland (Moone 1991, 331). Prior to the large-scale
exploitation of the bog, a mﬂ?gﬁuuﬂt of hand cutting of sod turf took place around its
margin. With the ommtructuﬁ of the peat-fired power station at Bellacorick in the late
1950's, Bord na MonaShepan acquiring the bogland to the southwest of Bangor,
commencing sod turf production in the early 1960"s, before switching to milled peat in
1976 (Whittaker 2004, 16-17). In December 2004 all peat production at Bangor bog came

to an end.

There are no known archacological sites from the two townlands themselves listed in the
Sites and Monuments Record (SMR) but several sites are known from the surmounding
area. Prehistoric activity is evidenced by a standing stone (MAO18-006) in Rathmorgan
Townland 4km to the northwest, a court tomb (MAO26-00201) and a possible cist burial
(MA026-00102) in Tristia Townland 5km to the southwest and an unclassified megalithic
tomb (MAO26-004) in Bangor, lkm to the east. The topographic files provide further
evidence of prehistoric activity in the form of a chert scraper found in Attavally townland
itself (1997:10). Several sites in the swrounding area date to the early historical period,
including twenty-seven possible crannogs (MAO18-014) on Carrowmore Lake, a

Report an Manitaring of Sralwore/Attavally, Bangor Ervis, Co, Mayo, 4
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rath/enclosure (MAD18-007) in Rathmorgan townland, as well as a church (MAO26-
00301), graveyard (MAO26-00302) and abbey (MA026-00303) in Kilteany townland,
immediately to the southwest of the bog. The topographic files also record a wooden
ploughshare or ard (1964:68), found in Attavally 2m below the surface of the bog and two
wooden vessels (1938:8574-5) from Bangor, also found in bog.

In 1997, monitoring was carried out on groundworks connected with a water supply
pipeline that was laid between Bangor Erris and treatment works at Carrowmore, east of
Barnatra. Most of the pipeline was laid beneath existing roads or in the road margin and
nothing of archaeological interest was found (Walsh 1998), In August and September of
2003 the bog at Srahmore and Attavally was systematically field walked as part of the
2003 Peatland Survey carried out by ADS Lid, but nothing of archaeological interest was
found (Whitaker, 2003). Further ficldwalking was carried out by ADS Ltd. on 20"
October 2003, specifically targeting the proposed degéﬁ:pment area, but again nothing of
archaeological interest was noted (Whitaker 2@%{&,
é??’@“é
4. Resulfs. (\Q‘>$
N &

4.1. Surface water a'e!'.l'femmfpm@' P

A total of five Htllemmt@&ﬂ?were excavated; a group of two ponds each measuring
50 x 10m, to the east of t \receptmn area (Ponds 1 & 2), a group of two ponds each
measuring 100 x 10m,goutheast of the reception area, to the south of the small stream
{Ponds 3 & 4), and a single pond measuring 50 x 10m, southwest of the road (Pond 5)
(Fig. 2). No archaeological deposits or objects were discovered during the excavation of
these ponds,

4.0.1 Ponds | & 2.

These two ponds were situated parallel to each other 10m apart and excavated 1o a
depth of around 3m (Plate 1). The stratigraphy of the peat in Pond 2 and its underlying
geology was recorded as Section A. The upper 2m of peat were an orange-brown, well-
humified Sphagnuwm peat, fibrous in parts, with frequent Callumna (heather) roots, some
Juncus (sedge) and occasional small patches of Eriaphorum (bog cotton). There was 0.3m
thick zone of tree roots around 0.5m from the base of this layer. The basal layer of peat
was around 0.15m thick and comprised of mid-brown, very well humified Sphagmunm

peat. Immediately below the peat was a very compact, single layer of stones forming an

Repori on Monitoring ai Srahmore/dttavally, Baviger Evvia, Co. Mayo, 5
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impermeable pan, These stones rested in part on a thin but distinct layer of a black, jelly-
like substance, probably a concentrate of material leached out of the peat. Below this was
a (.4m thick layer of light yellow-brown, sandy, gravely silt, followed in turn by a pale
grey, sandy, stony silt.

4.1.2 Ponds 3 & 4.

These two ponds were situated parallel to each other 10m apart and excavated to a depth
of around 3m. The peat here was from 0.5-1m thick and comprised of moderately well
humified, reddish brown Sphagnum peat, containing frequent sedge roots and occasional
tree roots, overlying a 0.2m band of dark brown, very well humified Sphagriwm peat.

4.1.3. Pond 5.

This was a single pond, excavated to a depth of 3m thmugh up to 2m of peat (Plate 3),
consisting of a reddish-brown moderately well, h-étmf' ed Sphagnum peat containing
frequent sedge roots and some tree rools, 'Qchi,gh mrcrhl:.r a 0.2m thick layer of well
humified dark brown Sphagnum peat. ég’ \é

&Qo Q
'\ooé‘
4.2, Site access road, Q&i@*‘\
The road was some 430 rﬁa?@% long (Fig. 2), the first 300 metres being built directly
on top of the existing II was excavated through up to Im of peat (Plate 2),

comprising of a dark ¢f-brown, fibrous, moderately well humified Sphagnum peat,
containing frequent heather and tree (Pinuy) roots, occasional sedge roots, a few
Phragmites (reed) fragments and some patches of bog cotton, Below this was a 15cm
thick layer of dark brown, very well humified Sphagmum peat. Nothing of archaeological

interest was noted here.

4.3, Administrative area,

This area measured 62 x 28m (Fig. 2), with peat being excavated down to the top of
the stone subsoil (Plate 4). The thickness of peat here varied from 1m in the eastern and
western comers of the area to 0.2m in the northern corner, with the subsoil rising towards
this comer, At its thickest, the peat consisted of a 0.9m thick layer of moderately
humified, dark red-brown Sphageum peat, which was somewhat fibrous, containing
frequent sedge roots, as well as frequent tree roots, Below this was a 0,12m thick layer of

Fepori an Mownltorlng of Sralurore/dttavally, Bangor Erris, Co, Mayo, B
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well-humified, dark brown Sphagmum peal lyving directly above the compact, stony
subsoil. Nothing of archaeological interest was found in this area,

4.4, Peal receplion area,

This area measured 120 x 42m (Fig. 2). To the northwest the peat covering was
around 0,2-0.5m, the peat being absent in places. The peat was considerably thicker to
the southeast, where it reached a maximum depth of 1.5m (Plate 5). Here it was
compaosed of red-brown, fibrous, moderately well humified Sphagnum peat, with frequent
sedge roots and a few reed fragments, Below this was a thin layer of dark brown-grey,
well-humified Sphagrum peat. Frequent remains of Scots Pine (Pimus splvesiris) were
encountered in the upper layer, with stumps, trunks and branches present, as well as roots.
The base of two stumps occurred some 0.8m above the bottom of the bog, indicating that
the bog had already developed at the time that it was colonised by the pine. The
underlying glacial stone and gravel layer m:::ugﬁ at 18.65m OD. Nothing of

archaeological interest was noted in this area. . Q\@
& \'é\
&5
i Qs
4.5, Drains QQ\}\&
WO

Three major drains were ux:gﬁ@ﬁ. all connecting with settlement ponds (Fig. 2). In
addition, some small ad hoc iﬁgﬁvﬂ: excavated into the surface of the peat to the sides
of the access road in urd:{o‘lu correct localised drainage problems. No archacological
deposits or objects wergdund during any of these drainage works.

4.5.1. Drain 1.

This short drain, around 65m long and up to 3m wide, connected Pond 5 with the
nearby stream. Up to 2.2m of peat were removed, the stratigraphy being the same as that
of Pond 5 above,

4.5.2. Drain 2.

This drain was some 460m long with a width of 2-3m. It ran from the northeast comer
of the peat reception area to Ponds | and 2, before draining into the nearby stream (Fig.
2). Near the reception area the peat was only 0.3m thick, deepening around the setilement
ponds to 1.8m thick. The stratigraphy of this peat was similar to that recorded at Pond 2

 and described above as Seetion A.

Repart on Monitoring af Sralimoreddiiavally, Banger Erris, Co. Mayo. 7
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4.5.3. Drain 3.

This was by far the longest drain, being 1.75km long with a width of 2-4m. It was
commenced at Ponds 4 & 5, curved in an arc towards a northeast-southwest field drain,
the course of which it followed before reaching the headland at the south-western edge of
the bog. Here it followed the northeast-southwest industrial railway, crossing seven bays,
until reaching Bay 1 at the southern edge of the bog, which it then followed until ending
at an existing settlement pond (Fig 2).

The initial section of the drain followed the line of an existing concrete pipe and little new
peat was removed here. It then tumed to follow the line of a field drain, where up to 0.3m
of peat was excavated. There was a gravel ridge exposed on the surface of the fields here,
which meant that for much of this section it was not necessary to remove any peat, As the
drain approached the headland the peat thickened, reaching a maximum depth of 1.8m
before the drain took a right angle to follow the rmlwg;ﬁ‘me
ol

The first 60m of this section, at the end 77, were cut through arcund 1.4m of peat,

the upper 0.9m of which was rede%g@i'@) and contained sawn hmshwnnd gravel and
pieces of concrete pipe. There wﬁ'm‘%u a layer of well-preserved, sawn brushwood just
below the surface (Plate 6), f(ﬁ@ﬁ had initially been laid down, together with a layer of
gravel, to provide su &'ur the adjacent railway line, before BnM began using
polyfabric for this purpegt. Across Bay 6, the peat thickened to around 2,3m, and was less
disturbed. The opportunity was taken to record the stratigraphy here as Section B (Plate
7). The first 0.4m consisted of a dark brown, friable Sphagmum peat, which contained
frequent sedge roots and had been disturbed. Below this was a 0.4m thick layer of pale
brown, fibrous, moderately well humified Sphagnum peat, with very frequent sedge roots.
This layer had a horizontal band of paler peat running through it. Beneath this was a 0.5m
thick, dark-brown, moderately well humified Sphagman peat, with frequent sedge roots
and becoming lighter towards the base. This layer was followed by a 0.25m thick, dark
brown-grey, well humified Sphagrnum peat, with occasional sedge roots and, finally, a
dark brown, very well humified Sphagnum peat with black horizontal banding. The
subsoil here was again a compact layer of stones overlying pale vellow-brown, silty

gravel,

Report on Moniforing o Sralmored Bavally, Bavger Ervis, Co. Mave, B
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Across Bay 5 the peat thickened to 3.4m and tree roots began to occur in the lower peat. [t
was not possible, on health and safety grounds, to record the stratigraphy in detail but
near The juncition of Bays 5 and 4 (Plate 8) the upper peat was a fairly well humified, red-
brown, fibrous, Sphagmum peat, with frequent sedge roots. Below this, beginning at
around 1.2m from the base of the bog, there was a layer of poorly humified, brown
Sphagmem peat which contained much decayed reed and sedge roots, as well as some
Bemila (birch) roots. This peat also contained a lot of horizontally deposited twiggy
material, the bark on the twigs showing that they were of birch. Some occasional charcoal
fragments were also noted within this layer, Since this part of the bog must have been too
wet for fire to have occurred here it is likely that it was washed in from the surrounding
area, Shortly after this section of the drain was excavated a large section of the southern
edge collapsed into it. The fibrous nature of the sedge-dominated peat normally lends it a
good structural integrity and the collapse here suggests that there may have originally
been hollow here, filled in prior to the commercial exepﬁltatmn of the bog.

At Bay 4 it was possible to record the peat, H@Sﬁnn C (Plate 9). The upper layer was a
1.6m thick deposit of moderately well h 58 Sphagnum peat with frequent sedge roots.
This layer, the top of which was dls@ﬁﬁ\'hnd horizontal bands of both darker and paler
peat. Below this was a 0.3m ﬂgﬁ&o%yer of fairly well humified Sphagnum peat with
frequent sedge and birch mm@eﬁﬁ frequent fragments of reed. This was succeeded by a
dark brown, well humified peat, 0.15m thick, which contained frequent remains of sedge,
birch and reed and wn@O‘ﬁ\:}r in nature. Below this was a fairly well humified, brown
Sphagmum peat, 0.2m thick, with occasional sedge and birch roots but frequent reed
fragments. Finally, there was another ‘fenny’ deposit of dark brown peat with frequent
birch twigs and roots but only occasional sedge roots. This layer was not fully excavated
and probing indicated at least another 1m of peat below it.

From Bay 3 onwards the machine dug along an existing ditch, widening and deepening it,
without fully excavating the peat. After Bay 3 birch became less frequent and occasional
pine roots began to oceur, increasing in frequency as the drain approached the south-west
comer of the bog where the drain turned north to follow the line of an existing field drain.
Here the work consisted only of removing silt from the drain and no fresh peat was
excavated. There were frequent pine stumps and roots exposed on the field surface in this

Report an Monitoring at Srahmore/Attavally, Bangor Evris, Co. Mayo, 9
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L. Discussion and conclusions.

Although no archaeological deposits or artefacts were uncovered during the course of
monitoring, the work did provide an opportunity to record the peat stratigraphy across the
bog and therefore reveal something of its development. The upper layers of peat were
fairly uniform across the whole area monitored, being a fibrous peat dominated by sedge
roots. The type of sedge peat that was found here is locally common, having a reputation
of making good fuel but being difficult to cut by hand, the fibres clogging the blade of the
Sledn, which has to be cleaned between each cutting stroke. In the lower levels of peat
there was a distinet difference between the peat occurring at the edges of the bog and that
found in the central area, The peat in the cenire contained a lot of reed, together with
birch roots and twigs. These twigs were deposited horizontally, suggesting that they were
laid down in waterlogged conditions. On the other hand, the peat oceurring at the margins
of the bog contained frequent remains of scots pine and also included heather and bog
cotton suggesting drier conditions here, dominated %@gu forest.

e

Scots pine was abundant in Ireland befi £ 0 BC, although geographically limited to
the west of Ireland, the northeast \xﬁ\}; Wicklow mountains (Bennett 1984, 144),
However around 2000 BC lherg\(\wggcﬁompid decline and pine virtually disappeared from
Ireland. Pine is a ]ight—dﬂnan&ﬁéﬁa%pe:iﬁ and competes poorly with broad-leaved trees, It
is, however, tolerant of a ﬁ: range of conditions and could survive on marginal land
such as the edge of bogsSind above the deciduous tree line, In these locations, free from
competition from other species, it tended to form large monocultures. Since the pine
decline was a widespread and synchronous phenomenon, it is thought that it was largely
brought about by a climatic downtumn resulting in wetter conditions (Bennett 1984, 146),
The high ground and bog margins where pine flourished would have borme the brunt of
these wetter climatic conditions.

The evidence from the bog here seems to accord well with this scenario. Pines were found
growing around the margin of the bog, heather and bog cotton remains confirming that
this area was relatively dry. Pine was the only tree found here suggesting it had formed a
forest monoculture and several large stumps were noted, some 0,7-0.8m above the base of
the bog, showing that some bog development had taken place before it was colonised by
the pine, whose roots were able to penetrate down into the gravel subsoil,

Repart on Monlforing of Srahmore/dtiavally, Banger Ervis, Co. Maye. 1]
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Although the bog here was completely cut away in places substantial peat deposits
remain, particularly around the headlands and high fields. The bog is to be buried under
the redeposited peat, after which the drains will be blocked and it will be returned 1o a
natural waterlogged state. These conditions will ensure the preservation of any
archaeology that may still exist here.
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Plate 1 Water settlement pond 2 from norh-east.

Plate 3 Water settlement pond 5 from west,
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Flate 4 Administration area from north-east.

Plate § Peat reception arca from north.

Plate 6 Drain 3, showing modern brushwood.
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Plate T Drain 3 n B.

Plate 8 I}rlln,’!, showing utth‘lﬂgﬂph}l' Plate 9 Drain 3, Section C,
near High Flll.d. 3.
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Sites & Monuments Record, Archaeological Survey, Department of the
Environment, Heritage and Local Government (Fig 2)

SMR No.: 018-006

Townland: Rathmorgan

County: Mayo

NGR: 8081 /32700

Description: Holy Well, Cairn & Standing Stone.

Visited 27/07/95 by PO’D/MW

On 1837 and 1921 maps.
Situated on the ESE slope of a steep mountainous hill. Poor mountainous pasture.
Holy Well — natural spring (local information) covered by a massive subrectangular
boulder (L 2.69m, dims. 1.3m x 0.27m) which is supported by 3 much smaller stones.
There is a small pile of while marble stone on top of the covering stone.
Cairn — immediately SSE of the well is a partially peat-covered low circular cairn of
small and medium sized white marble stones (diam. 4.3m; max. H 0.5m) tapering to a
point. Protruding from the centre of the cairn is a smalléi@?e’gularly shaped apparently
uninscribed stone. &
Standing Stone — immediately WNW of the vgéil\ol?@ an approx. rectangular upright

block (H 1.14m, dims. 0.8m x 0.43m). $&

SR
'\OQQQ‘\

SMR No.: 018-007 &

Townland: Rathmorga&{\i\&\\

County: Mayo \ooQ

NGR: 8087 / 32671

Description: Rath¢sEnclosure

Visited 27/07/95 by PO’D/MW

On 1837 and 1921 maps.
Situated on the S slope of a steep mountainous hill on poor pastureland. Raised
circular area (diam 29.3m) defined by a low irregular scarp (H 0.6m). At foot of scarp
is a berm (W 4m). At the outer edge of the berm is a wide shallow fosse (W 4.2m,
max. D 0.4m) with traces of a possible counterscarp bank at its outer lip. From
NW=N-S-SW the berm, fosse and counterscarp bank have been levelled. Here, the
scarp has been modified and incorporated into the field boundary. Original entrance
not recognisable.
Sources: Westropp, T.J., 1912 & 1914, The Promontory Forts and Early
Remains of the Coasts of County Mayo, JRSAI, vol. 42 & 44, p. 148 — 159.

“... low earthen fort, yellow with moss, standing out against the green fields.

Old people say that it is the Real Place, i.e. the Rathmorgan fromwhich the townland
iIs named. The local pronunciation is ‘Rah Murrigan’ — one would like to fancy it a
memory of the great queen, Medb of the Cattle Forays, but the Glenmassan
manuscript confirms the map form as early, before 1238 at the least. The Rath is
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greatly defaced; a steep bank rises 6ft over the field to the S, but hardly 2ft to the N,
being terraced up on the slope. In parts, rude facing masonry of large blocks occurs,
and all round the edge a slight depression, over 1ft deep and 8-10ft wide, probably
marks where a dry stone rampart capped the revetted earthen bank. The garth is
somewhat oval, and is 86ft across N & S, and 69ft E & W. This leaves only a small
enclosure if a thick stone rampart girt it, barely 66ft by 49ft at most.

SMR No.: 018-008

Townland: Cloontakilla

County: Mayo

NGR: 8582/32482

Description: Children’s Burial Ground.

Visited 24/04/96 by PO’D/MW

On 1837 and 1921 maps.
Situated atop a hillock on a generally NNW facing hillside. From NW-N-E, where
the hillock is bordered by a fast flowing stream, the hillock is high and steep sided.
Low grass covered mound of earth and large & mediugf sized stones (dims. 6.7m
NNW-SSE, 4.6m ENE-WSW) ranging in height betwgen 0.5m at SSE and 1.65m at
NNW. There are 4 graves to the ENE & SE gfz(@ mound. The best preserved of
these, at the SE is stone lined (dims. 1m Wl\\giig@éE, 0.7m NNE-SSW).
Source: O’Donovan, J., 1803\8°@161.
Letters Containing Information Rel%ﬁg&o the Antiquities of the County of Mayo,
Collected During the Progress of g&@dnance Survey. In Bray, 1927, Reproduced by
Rev. Michael O’Flanagan, Vol. Iz\goQ
“In this parish are several oldagroave yards, some of which contain the ruins of small
rude churches of whose hiﬁﬁ?y nothing is known or ever will be discovered. One of
these is situated in the townland of Cluainte Cille (the Cloons of the Kill or Church)
about 11 miles SE of Belmullet... Those little churches are not ancient, as the
architectural antiquary will at once pronounce but they are curious monuments to
show that the mountainous parts of Erros were inhabited some centuries back.”

SMR No.: 018-010

Townland: Rathmorgan

County: Mayo

NGR: 8212/ 32755

Source: Per. Comm., Noel Dunne, 1991.
Description: Cairn.
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SMR No.: 018-011

Townland: Dereens Island

County: Mayo

NGR: -

Source: Per. Comm., R. Chapple, September 1993.
Noone, 1991, p.108, “Where the Sun Sets”, The Leinster Leader.
Description: Ecclesiastical Remains.

“At the NE end of the island are the ruins of about 6 dwellings of stone and mortar
which contained 2 apartments of equal size. At the SW end of the island are ruins of
an old church 45ft x 21ft, which had gabled facing E & W. Nearby, approximately
60ft S of the church is a small dwelling, probably for a priest or a religious
community.”

SMR No.: 018-013
Townland: Gortmore / Attavally &
County: Mayo o&*‘é
NGR: 8379 / 32524 S
Source: Pers. Comm., R. Cha&ﬁfé@eptember 1993.
Visited 29/05/96 byPG*D/DS
Description: Architectural @éﬁ@&énts.
The *dressed stones’ may originzgf\{@\/e been in the church (018-011) or dwellings
(018-012). 5\°°Q
X
QOQ&Q
SMR No.: 018-014
Townland: Carrowmore Lake
County: Mayo
NGR: 8427/ 32573 & 8422 / 32569
Source: Pers. Comm., R. Chapple, September 1993.

“Report on the Possible Crannog Sites in Carrowmore Lake, County Mayo”, Robert
Chapple, Erris Survey Office.
Description: Lake Carrowmore is the largest lake in the barony, 1000 hectares in
area. By tradition it is one of the oldest in Ireland. There are 27 sites listed by the
SMR as possible crannogs. Three in N Carrowmore lake look most archaeologically
promising. They were inspected on the 30™ July — 2™ August, 1993.

Site A — 100m to the W of Derreens Island and 350m from the lake shore.
Small, lightly overgrown, roughly oval island. C. 40m NW-SE, c. 26m NE-SW. The
edges of the island slope gently under water. No archaeological remains.

Site B — Above Muingerroon Island, c. 450m to NW of Derreens Island, and c.
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280m S of the lake shore. Small circular island. Surface is marshy, heavily
overgrown with small trees and dense scrub-bushes, therefore it could not be
inspected internally. The surface is composed of natural limestone bedrock. Sides
dropped away steeply but no signs of human intervention. Aerial photos showed
possible causeway associated with it, but it could not be relocated.

Site C — Muingerroon Island. Small, roughly shaped, c. 50m NE-SW, c. 32m NW-
SE, lies c. 320m to NE of Dereens Island. The surface is made of sand and gravel like
the bottom of the lake. Interior is lightly wooded with low, weather-beaten trees.
Completely natural.

Site D — Gortmore Island. It was decided that this site was too big to be used as a
crannog, therefore it was not surveyed.

Site E — Attavally Island. Small, oval shaped island, c. 118m NE-SW, c. 50m NW-
SE, lies c. 612m to SE of Gortmore Island, and c. 176m from the lake shore. Interior
is flat, except for a small mound or cairn that dominates the centre, measuring c. 3m
in height and c. 4-5m in diameter. Constructed from st and earth. Now grassed
over. It is the remains of a trigonometrical station (33ft OD) as shown on the 3" ed.
1921 OS 6” sheet. Not ancient. Island slopesbgggﬁoﬂ?ﬁunder water. On the SE side the
bottom is thick marl mud. 5 - 10m from t@@@\re there are 5 — 10 partially decayed
tree-branches imbedded horizontally in tg@?mﬁd Cannot tell if they are worked in any
way. Not placed in any defined ord%@}b@? do they have a structural function. Aerial
photos show a possible causew. ‘,\Qea*ﬁ'ending from the SSW corner of the island,
heading to the nearest part of the\@ﬂ\\me for approx. 60-80m in SW direction, turning
slightly WSW before disappeg@i%g from view. On inspection it could be traced for
70m and is 0.7m — 1.5m igSwidth, 0.25 — 0.5m in height, and the sides possess an
angle of repose of roughly 45 degrees. Constructed of sand and gravel, like the
bottom of the lake. Couldn’t see where it joined the land, but hampered by poor
visibility and density of rushes. Existence of the causeway attested locally. Known
as the “Roadeen” and was visible just below the lake surface in exceptionally dry
summers before the local dam was erected. Chert scraper found 8m S of the island,
between the causeway and submerged timbers. 0.75m under water. 40.5mm long X
31mm wide, 6mm thick.

SMR No.: 025-00101 (church) & 00102 (midden)

Townland: Bunawillin

County: Mayo

NGR: 7364 / 32482 (church), 7363 / 32477 (midden)

Source: Noone, Fr. Sean, 1991, “Where the Sun Sets”, NAAS, p. 127.
Description: Church and Midden.

Visited 25/04/96 by PO’D/MW
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There was an old chapel by the sea shore at the end of Joseph Scanlon’s property.
The ruins were plainly visible at the end of the last century. Since then the sea has
washed away much of the land, so all that is left... are a few stones and the remains of
a kitchen midden with an assortment of seashells. A circular stone cup dating from
the period prior to 1600AD was found in the sand near the site. Now in National
Museum, Dublin. Named “Doocreeghan” in early maps.

SMR No.: 025-00201 (enclosure) & 00202 (house)
Townland: Muingmore

County: Mayo

NGR: 7557 | 32456

Description: Enclosure.
Situated 7.7m from Muingmor house. Circular area (diam. 12.4m) defined by a low
narrow earthen bank (H 0.5m, W 1.6m). No fosse. Original entrance (W 2.5m) at
ESE. Interior largely occupied by irregular shaped mound of earth and stone.
Otherwise, internal ground level is lower than that of the ground outside. Probably
modern structure. &

&

House. S
Situated on a prominent rise within an extensiv@%ﬁ@? of peatland. Rectangular house
(dims 13.7NNE-SSW, 6.2m WNW-ESE). cﬁeﬁ\med by lower portions of walls of
drystone masonry (wall thickness 1. lm)QQT\‘ lw% remaining stones are mostly large and
medium sized. Entrance (W 1.3m) @@%ﬁ% NNE end of the ESE wall. House divided
internally into 2 rooms of unqu@g&e by a WNW-ESE dividing wall. Probably
relatively modern.

\6\
00@\
SMR No.: 025-003
Townland: Muingmore
County: Mayo
NGR: 7588 / 32292
Description: Possible crannog. On 1921 map.
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SMR No.: 025-004

Townland: Doolough

County: Mayo

NGR: 7683 /32194

Description: Possible crannog. On 1921 map.

SMR No.: 025-005

Townland: Doolough

County: Mayo

NGR: 7737 / 32157

Description: Possible crannog. On 1838 and 1921 maps.
SMR No.: 026-00101 (burial ground) & 00102 (cist)
Townland: Tristia

County: Mayo

NGR: 7894 / 32309 &
Sources: Aldridge, 1969, p. 86, “Notes on Child&%’s Burial Grounds in Mayo”,
JRSAI Vol. 99, Part 1, pp. 83 — 87. S
Description: Burial Ground. 4?@6\

QRS
Visited 20/05/96 byPE*D/DS

Situated on SW facing slope. Poog?}g@ntainous terrain. 1ll defined on ground.
Comprised of a series of natural gé\g&\ring boulders following no particular pattern.
Max diam. 16.8m NNE-SSW. N ssible cist burial.

Cist Bug}aﬁ
Situated NE portion of Tristia Children’s Burial Ground. Large irregularly shaped
boulder aligned NNW-SSE (max. L 2.05m, W 1.3m, D 0.3m) split into 2 roughly
equal portions and resting on number of small stones.

SMR No.: 026-00201

Townland: Tristia

County: Mayo

NGR: 7904 / 32279

Description: Megalithic Court Tomb.
Visited 25/04/96 by PO’D/MW

SMR No.: 026-00202

Townland: Tristia

County: Mayo

NGR: 7893 /32273

Source: Per. Comm., P.Walsh, 1990.

Description: Pre-Bog Walls.
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SMR No.: 026-00301 (church)
026-00302 (graveyard)
026-00303 (abbey)

Townland: Kilteany
County: Mayo
NGR: 8222 /32300

Description: O’Donovan, J., 1838, “Letters Containing Information Relative to the
Antiquities of the County of Mayo, Collected During the Progress of the Ordnance
Survey”, in Bray, 1927, Reproduced by Rev. Michael O’Flanagan, vol. I, pp. 161 —
162.

“In the mountains the ruins of the chapels of Kilcummin, Kiltena, and Fahey
in Ballycroy show little architectural ornament in their construction, but serve as
marks to show that inhabitants existed in their era in these parts, sufficient to support
and fill them, though at this day they cannot boast so many houses.”

Erris, “The Irish Highlands™, 1836, p.13.

“In this parish are several old grave yards, some of which contain ruins of
small rude churches of whose history nothing is known g will ever be discovered..
and a third which contains a rude old church in the t«@vnland of Cill Teine, about 9
miles SE of Belmullet.” Gg?(\;\oﬁ\

Rev. Neary, 1913-14, “SomQ\QéN%tes on Killala Diocese”, Galway
Archaeological and Historical Societ d?ggi%al vol. VIII, pp. 12 - 38.

“An old church exists at J;glﬁ\gﬁny, west of Bangor, and it may be the Insula
Dori.” N

K
\O

Lewis, Samuel, 1837 “A Topographical Dictionary of Ireland”, London, Vol.
2, p.67.

“At Kiltairn, on the banks of the Owenmore, are remains of an ancient abbey,
and also of the old parish church.”

Site Visit 29/06/96 by PO’D/DS.

Kilteany Church in Ruins.

Situated on low lying ground, adjacent to stream. Late medieval parish church
(ext. dim. 13.95m NE-SW, 6.1m NW-SE, wall thickness 0.9m). Single light round
headed NE window, round headed rear arch, wall presses at ground floor level at
either end of the E wall. Plain flat headed single light window at NE end of SE wall.
Rounded headed doorway with pointed segmental arch at SW end of SE wall. Most
of dressed stone is missing but 2 portions of chamfered jambs are in situ. 2 opposing
joist holes in SW end of NW and SE walls and third close to WNW angle. Its
counterpart in the SE wall has collapsed. Remains of N-S wall to E of building
represents remains of further buildings.
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SMR No.:
Townland:
County:
NGR:
Source:

Description:

SMR No.:
Townland:
County:
NGR:

026-004

Bangor

Mayo

8008 / 32328

Per. Comm., P. Walsh, 1990.
Megalithic Tomb, unclassified.
Visited 23/10/97 by PO’D/MW.

026-005
Bangor
Mayo

Description: Neary, 1913-14, p.24, “Some Notes on Killala Diocese”, Glaway
Archaeological and Historical Society Journal, VVol. VIII, pp. 12 — 38. “Old churches

also exist at Bangor.”
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Topographical Files ng@ounty Mayo
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Topographic Files, Irish Antiquities Division, National Museum of Ireland
The Topographical Files were searched for references to Srahmore, Attavally, Bangor
and the surrounding townlands. The following references were found:

Townland:  Attavally

Parish: Kilcommon
Barony: Erris
County: Mayo

Reg. No.: 1964:68

OS Map: 18, 26

Description: Plough Share of Ard.

Wooden share, long handle, triangular head. Handle rectangular in cross-section
where it joins the head. 75cm from that it becomes circular in cross-section to the
end. Handle is broken in 2 parts. Triangular end is flat on one surface, the 2 sides are
slightly convex. Found in bog, 6ft deep.

&.
@'\0
&
S
&
Townland:  Attavally o‘?i&\
. . N
Parish: Kilcommon . o°Q®x*
Barony: Erris e
County: Mayo &\:\\&{\
Reg. No.:  1997:10 (IA/42/94)s®
OS Map: 89 £

Description: Chert Scrap&r}%o
Complete end and side of a scraper made from chert. Removed from a platform core
with the striking platform and bulb of percussion intact.

Townland: Bangor

Parish: Kilcommon
Barony: Erris
County: Mayo

Reg. No: 1938:8574-5
OS Map: 26

Description: Two wooden vessels found in a bog. One incomplete.
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Summary of Legislation Governing the Protection of Cultural Heritage in Ireland
(Produced by C.R.D.S. Ltd)

The National Monuments Acts 1930 to 1994

The National Monuments Acts, 1930 to 1994 provide a specific legislative basis for the protection of
archaeological monuments and areas and archaeological objects. The Minister of Arts, Culture and the
Gaeltacht (now the Minster of Arts, Heritage, Gaeltacht and the Islands) is required to establish and
maintain both a 'Register of Monuments and Places' and 'Record of Historic Monuments' under the terms of
the 1987 and 1994 Amendments Acts respectively.

The 'Record of Monuments and Places' is meant to contain a list of places where the Minister believes there
are monuments. The 'Register of Historic Monuments' is meant to contain a list of historic monuments and
archaeological areas which are known and which in his/her opinion should be entered. In the case of the
'Record of Monuments and Places' the record shall consist of a list ozg'monuments and such places, and
maps showing them, for each county in the State. %\é

\A Q@

Under Section 1 of the 1987 Act all monuments datln%@ng@fore AD 1700 are automatically defined as
‘historic monuments'. Historic monuments may also@@? 'such later date as the Minister may appoint by
regulations'. Under Section 12 of the 1994 Acgﬁﬁg@onuments listed on the 'Record of Monuments and
Places' are given a minimum level of protec@ﬁ@ the form of a requirement to give two months notice in

writing to the Minister of intention to mteg\@‘@.
d

A
A national monument, as defined iﬁ%(\;iion 2 of the 1930 Act, may also include, as provided for in Section
11 of the 1987 Act, 'a group of buildings, structures or erections' and/or ‘any place comprising the remains
or traces of buildings, structure or erection'. The 1930 definition also includes the 'site of the monument and
such portion of land adjoining such site as may be required to fence, cover in or otherwise preserve from

injury the monument or to preserve the amenities thereof'.

'Archaeological areas' are defined under Section 1 of the 1987 Act as 'areas which the Minister considers to
be of archaeological importance but not including the area of an historic monument entered in the Register".
Notification has to be sent to the owner that such a historic monument or area has been entered in the

Register.
Other forms of protection include a 'preservation order' and a 'temporary preservation order' instituted

under section 8 of the 1930 Act and Section 4 of the 1954 Act respectively. A 'Preservation Order' may be

made if the Minister is of the opinion that a monument is 'in danger of being or is actually being destroyed,
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injured or removed, or is falling into decay through neglect' while a "Temporary Preservation Order', lasting
for a period of six months, may be made if the Minister is of the opinion that a national monument is 'in

immediate danger of injury or destruction'

The Minister may also, under Section 9 of the 1930 Act, appoint her/himself 'guardian’ of a national
monument (obliging her/him to maintain it) and thus make it an offence 'to demolish or remove wholly or
in part or to disfigure, deface or alter, or in any manner injure or interfere' with the national monument ‘or
to excavate, dig, plough or otherwise disturb the ground within, around or in proximity to any such national

monument' without the consent of the Minister.

Number 22 of 2004 National Monuments (Amendment) Act 2004

The purpose of the Act in light of Court decisions, is to clarify the division of responsibilities under the
National Monuments Act between the Minister of Arts, Culture and the Gaeltacht and the Minister for
Environment, Heritage and Local Government; to set out revised procedures whereby works affecting
national monuments may be permitted in certain circumstances, subject Eg necessary safeguards and, also to
make provision for appropriate protection of the archaeological herq\age along the routes of approved road

developments. (@ @
SO

Heritage Act 1995 \‘}QO S

The Heritage Act established a statutory 'Her@‘g@(\%ouncn the functions of which include proposing

policies and priorities for the identification @?Q@tlon and preservation of the national heritage. Section 2

of the Act includes in its definition of a@‘ﬁaeology the term 'landscape' and 'landscape’ is defined as

including ‘areas, sites, vistas and feg;&res of significant scenic, archaeological, geological, historical,

ecological or other scientific mtereﬂ;0

Local Government (Planning and Development) Acts 1963 to 1993
Under the Local Government Planning and Development Acts 1963 to 1964 the use of land for agriculture
(including turbary) or forestry (including afforestation) are exempted by statute from the provisions therein.

Furthermore other activities such as river dredging and land reclamation can be exempted by regulation.

However, in the case of those activities exempted by regulation, the exemption ceases if the activity
consists of or comprises 'the excavation, alteration or demolition of caves, sites, features or other objects of
archaeological ... interest the preservation of which is an objective for the development plan for the area in
which the development in proposed’ or if it is a class of activity scheduled in the Environmental Impact

Assessment (EIA) Regulations.

The Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Directive and Regulations
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The EIA Regulations of 1989 were made under the European Communities Act 1972, for the purpose of
giving effect to the European Communities (now EU) Environmental Impact Assessment Directive.
Environmental Impact Statements (EISs) are required to contain a description of the likely significant
effects, direct and indirect, on the environment of a development, explained by its possible impact on, inter
alia, the cultural heritage and where significant adverse effects are identified a description of the measures

envisaged in order to avoid reduce or remedy those effects.

The Forestry Act 1988
The Forestry Act 1988, established Coillte Toeranta as a semi-state company. Under the Act, it is a general

duty of the company to have due regard to the environmental and amenity consequences of its operations.

The Turf Development Acts 1946 to 1990

The Turf Development Acts provide the statutory basis for Bord Na Mdna and its activities; In performance
and exercise of its duties Bord Na Mdna may 'ensure that all its activities are conducted in such a manner as
to afford appropriate protection for the environment both locally and natiognally'.

»@é\}

The Roads Act 1993 \A ,z@
The Roads Act 1993 provides for local authorities to beo;ﬁysoauthorltles and sets out the functions of the
National Roads Authority. It requires the roads a@&]@ﬁﬁles to prepare an EIS for any proposed road
development that fall within the parameters set gﬁt@@}he Roads Regulation 1994 or if the Minister for the

Environment considers a particular road d{e(vgfﬁ@ent to have significant effects on the environment.
x°0®

National Parks and Heritage Areas @H
The Bill, if enacted would allow th@qwlnlster for Arts, Culture and the Gaeltacht to enter into management
agreements with landowners and to acquire land where this would be desirable for the proper exercise of
his/her functions under the Act. Where land is owned by him/her or is subject to a management agreement
he/she will be able to designate it as a National Historic Park provided such land contains historic heritage,

i.e. historic monuments, archaeological areas and monuments of national importance.
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